Supreme Court of California

Jorge E. Navarrete, Clerk and Executive Officer of the Court

Electronically FILED on 1/26/2018 by Robert Toy, Deputy Clerk

CASE #: S246711

Case No.	

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

ZB, N.A. and ZIONS BANCORPORATION,

Petitioners,

v.

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA FOR THE COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO,

Respondent;

KALETHIA LAWSON,

Real Party In Interest.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal Fourth Appellate District, Division One Case Nos. D071279 & D071376 (Consolidated)

PETITION FOR REVIEW

I. QUESTION PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

Does the Court of Appeal's published Opinion contravene the United States Supreme Court's holding in *AT&T Mobility LLC v. Concepcion* (2011) 563 U.S. 333 ("*Concepcion*"), and this Court's holding in *Iskanian v. CLS Transportation Los Angeles LLC* (2014) 59 Cal.4th 348 ("*Iskanian*"), and violate the Federal Arbitration Act, by permitting real party in interest Kalethia Lawson ("Lawson") to pursue in the Superior Court a mass, quasiclass claim for payment of underpaid wages ("victim-specific relief") directly to Lawson and other employees throughout California under Labor Code section 558(a)(3), in disregard of Lawson's individual arbitration agreement (including a class claims waiver) with her former employer?

II. REASONS FOR GRANTING REVIEW.

This Court "may order review of a Court of Appeal decision," *inter alia*, "when necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an

important question of law." (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).) The instant Petition for Review presents an irreconcilable conflict between the Opinion in this case and the earlier published opinion in *Esparza v. KS Indus., L.P.* (2017) 13 Cal.App.5th 1228 ("*Esparza*"), which reached a directly contrary conclusion regarding the effect of class action waivers in arbitration agreements as applied to claims seeking unpaid wages under the Labor Code Private Attorneys General Act ("PAGA"), where the award of such wages is paid directly to the employee, rather than 75% to the State as is the case with the traditional per-pay-period civil penalties (\$50 or \$100 per pay period) available under Labor Code section 558 ("Section 558").

In 2011, in *Concepcion*, the United States Supreme Court held that the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA") requires California courts to enforce arbitration agreements even where those agreements preclude arbitration of consumer complaints on a class-wide basis. (563 U.S. at 354.) Three years later, in *Iskanian*, this Court held that pre-dispute class action waivers in arbitration agreements cannot waive the right to bring representative claims under PAGA. (59 Cal.4th at 386-388.)

To avoid running afoul of *Concepcion*, this Court included an important exception to its holding in *Iskanian*:

Our opinion today would not permit a state to circumvent the FAA by, for example, deputizing employee A to bring a suit for the individual damages claims of employees B, C, and D. This pursuit of victim-specific relief by a party to an

arbitration agreement on behalf of other parties to an arbitration agreement would be tantamount to a private class action, whatever the designation given by the Legislature. Under *Concepcion*, such an action could not be maintained in the face of a class waiver.

(*Id.* at 387-388 [referencing *Concepcion*, *supra*, 563 U.S. 333].)¹

Lawson and California Bank & Trust ("CB&T") – a division of ZB² – are parties to an arbitration agreement that obligates Lawson to arbitrate her claims against CB&T individually. (AA I:050, 063.) The parties' arbitration agreement precludes an employee or former employee – including Lawson – from seeking "to represent the legal interests of or obtain relief for a larger group." (AA I:051, 064.)

In this action, Lawson seeks to recover victim-specific relief in the form of "unpaid wages and premium wages" under Section 558, which provides that unpaid wages "recovered pursuant to this section shall be paid to affected employees." (AA I:014 at ¶ 49 [emphasis added]; Labor Code § 558(a)(3).) Lawson seeks such "unpaid wages and premium wages" not only on her own behalf, but also on behalf of all other aggrieved hourly-paid or non-exempt employees. (AA I:009, 014 at ¶¶ 13, 49.) Significantly,

2152/019003-0171 11891265.5 a01/26/18

¹ The Court's above-quoted limitation is referred to herein as the "Iskanian exception."

² On December 31, 2015, CB&T merged its banking charter with other banks owned by its parent company, Zions, to form ZB. (AA I:040.) At that time, CB&T became a division of ZB. (AA I:040.)

although Lawson purports to assert a PAGA claim, she does not seek to recover the "unpaid wages and premium wages" on behalf of the State of California, which would not share in the recovery of these wages under Section 558. (AA I:009, 014 at ¶¶ 13, 49.)

Despite the class-action waiver provision of the parties' arbitration agreement, the Superior Court ordered the parties to arbitrate Lawson's victim-specific claims on a representative, quasi-class basis. (AA II:381.) The Court of Appeal reversed the Superior Court's Order in its entirety, holding that unpaid wages available under Section 558 constitute an additional part of the civil penalties (per employee, per pay period) set forth in the statute, and that monetary penalties under PAGA (of which the employee receives 25%, while the State receives 75%) cannot be separated from unpaid wages claims, even though the affected employees retain all unpaid wages recovered in the action. (Exhibit A hereto ["Opn."] at pp. 8, 10-12, 18-21.) Relying on its decision in a pre-Iskanian case, the Court of Appeal held that "in bringing a PAGA action an employee is not acting on his or her own behalf, but on behalf of the state and the state is not bound by the employee's prior agreement, including any waiver of his or right to bring a representative action." (Opn. at p. 23.) Thus, the Court of Appeal held, because the employee effectively acts on behalf of the State, which is not a party to any arbitration agreement, the Superior Court erred in ordering Lawson to arbitrate any part of her claims. (Opn. at p. 23.)

The Court of Appeal's published Opinion would thus permit Lawson – "Employee A" in *Iskanian*'s parlance – to seek recovery of unpaid wages on behalf of <u>other employees</u> – "Employees B, C, and D" as described in *Iskanian* – in the face of an <u>undisputed class action waiver</u> and thus in contravention of the United States Supreme Court's holding in *Concepcion* and the *Iskanian* exception articulated by this Court, based on the fiction that Lawson stands in the shoes of the State, even though none of the unpaid wages recovered under Section 558 would be paid to the State.

In addition to contravening *Concepcion* and the *Iskanian* exception, the Court of Appeal's holding is contrary to the published Opinion of the Fifth Appellate District Court of Appeal in *Esparza*, 13 Cal.App.5th 1228. *Esparza* holds that when a plaintiff-employee pursues "claims for unpaid wages and other types of victim-specific relief" under Section 558 that are payable directly to the employee instead of the State, such claims are "private disputes" that must be arbitrated pursuant to the terms of the parties' arbitration agreement. (*Id.* at 1234, 1246.) Specifically, the *Esparza* court explained this Court's holding in *Iskanian* as follows:

We conclude that, for purposes of the *Iskanian* rule, PAGA representative claims for civil penalties are limited to those where a portion of the recovery is allocated to the Labor and Workforce Development Agency. Claims for unpaid wages based on *Labor Code section 558* are not allocated in this manner and, therefore, the *Iskanian* rule does not exempt such claims from arbitration

[T]he employee intended to pursue private claims for victim-specific relief, such as claims to recover wages under *Labor Code section 558*. The *Iskanian* rule does not exempt such claims from arbitration.

(*Id.* at 1234.) This Court denied review and depublication of *Esparza* on November 15, 2017.

The Court of Appeal in the instant case rejected the *Esparza* court's reasoning, holding that (1) while Section 558 does permit individual recovery by a plaintiff, the plaintiff must first satisfy PAGA procedural requirements and acts "in the place of and for the [Labor and Workforce Development Agency ("LWDA")]," such that the claim is not purely private; and (2) *Iskanian* permits the "enforce[ment]" of "civil penalties" under Section 558 "even when an employee is subject to a class waiver agreement." (Opn. at p. 21.)

The Court of Appeal's Opinion in the instant case would permit employees to pursue representative, quasi-class claims for unpaid wages under PAGA in the trial courts despite arbitration agreements that permissibly preclude class-wide claims, in direct contravention of the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Concepcion* – the very circumstance this Court sought to avoid in articulating the *Iskanian* exception. In addition, the Opinion and *Esparza* are irreconcilable, and diverge on a matter of significant importance to thousands of employers and untold numbers of

employees across the State. Petitioners respectfully request that this Court resolve this unmistakable and significant conflict in California law and provide much-needed guidance to the lower courts.

III. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND.

A. <u>Lawson Agreed To Arbitrate Her Disputes With</u> Petitioners On An Individual, Bilateral Basis.

Lawson began working for CB&T on June 3, 2013. (AA I:037.) Prior to commencing employment with CB&T, Lawson received an e-mail with a hyperlink to CB&T's "Statement of Compliance with Employee Handbook and Code of Ethics" (the "Statement of Compliance"). (AA II:229, 233-234.) The Statement of Compliance included hyperlinks to several documents, including the full Employee Handbook and the "Mandatory Binding Arbitration Policy and Agreement" (the "Arbitration Agreement") of the Employee Handbook. (AA II:230, 233-234.)

On May 31, 2013, Lawson acknowledged receipt of the Statement of Compliance. (AA II:229-230, 234, 237, 240-241, 244, 261, 263-268.) By acknowledging receipt of the Statement of Compliance, Lawson confirmed that she had "read and [would] comply with the policies and standards contained in the Handbook," and also confirmed that she had "read particularly... Section 4.4 of the Handbook, which contains the Mandatory Binding Arbitration Agreement." (AA II:230-231, 233-234, 240-241, 244.)

On Lawson's first day of work (June 3, 2013), Lawson again agreed to be bound by the Arbitration Agreement. (AA I:037-038, 050-061; AA II:230-231, 234-235, 245-257.) On February 14, 2014, Lawson also acknowledged receipt of, and her agreement to be bound by, an updated version of the Arbitration Agreement. (AA I:038-039, 062-072; AA II:231-232, 233-236, 259-261.) The first paragraph of the Arbitration Agreement specifies that all employment-related claims are subject to arbitration:

Any legal controversy or claim arising out of your employment with the Company or with Zions or Zions Entities, which is not otherwise governed by an arbitration provision, and that cannot be satisfactorily resolved through negotiation or mediation, shall be resolved, upon election by you or the Company, Zions or Zions Entities, by binding arbitration pursuant to this arbitration provision and the code of procedures of the American Arbitration Association (AAA).

(AA I:050, 063.)

The Arbitration Agreement contains a provision precluding an employee or former employee from seeking "to represent the legal interests of or obtain relief for a larger group":

[C]laims by different claimants against the Company, Zions and Zions Entities or by the Company against different employees, former employees, or applicants, <u>may not be combined in a single arbitration</u>. Unless specific state law states otherwise, <u>no arbitration can be brought as a class action (in which a claimant seeks to represent the legal interests of or obtain relief for a larger group), and the parties recognize</u>

that the arbitrator has no authority to hear an arbitration either against or on behalf of a class.

(AA I:051, 064 [emphasis added].)

Further expressing the parties' intent to arbitrate any disputes on an individual basis only, the Arbitration Agreement states that the arbitrator "shall not consolidate claims of different employees or have power to hear arbitration as a class action." (AA I:053, 066.) A "class action" is defined in the Arbitration Agreement as an action "in which a claimant seeks to represent the legal interests of or obtain relief for a larger group." (AA I:051, 064.)

Significantly, the acknowledgment forms Lawson was asked to accept on each of these occasions specifically referred to the mandatory arbitration policy in bold, uppercase text:

> I have read particularly the *Handbook Overview* and General Management Practices sections of Handbook which contain the **EMPLOYMENT AT-WILL** POLICY. Section 4.4 of the Handbook, which contains the MANDATORY BINDING ARBITRATION **POLICY** AND AGREEMENT. Section 5.5 of the Handbook, I understand that by accepting or continuing employment with the Company I agree to use binding arbitration to resolve certain legal claims or controversies with the Company, Zions or Zions Entities, including federal Title VII and state civil rights claims, pursuant to the mandatory binding arbitration policy....

(AA I:055, 068; AA II:240-241; emphasis in original.)

Lawson acknowledged receipt of the Arbitration Agreement on all three occasions. (AA I:038-039, 062-072; AA II:230-236, 244, 245-261.) In acknowledging receipt of the employee handbook and Arbitration Agreement, Lawson agreed that "by accepting or continuing employment with the Company," she would use "binding arbitration to resolve" her claims against Petitioners. (AA I:055, 068; AA II:240-241.)

B. <u>Lawson Filed A PAGA Action Seeking Victim-Specific,</u> <u>Unpaid Wages On Behalf Of Herself And Other</u> <u>Employees.</u>

On February 19, 2016, Lawson filed her Complaint with the respondent Superior Court. In her Complaint, Lawson alleged a single cause of action for violation of PAGA, on behalf of herself and other aggrieved employees. (AA I:006-019.)

In her Complaint, Lawson seeks not only the normal PAGA civil penalties that go primarily to the State of California, but also individual, employee-specific relief in the form of "unpaid wages and premium wages" under Section 558. (AA I:014 at ¶ 49.) Lawson seeks such "unpaid wages and premium wages" not just on her own behalf, but also on behalf of all other hourly-paid or non-exempt employees in California. (AA I:009, 014 at ¶¶ 13, 49.)

C. Petitioners Moved To Compel Lawson To Submit Her Claim For Victim-Specific Relief Under Labor Code § 558 To Individual Binding Arbitration.

On August 3, 2016, Petitioners moved the Superior Court for an Order "compelling plaintiff Kalethia Lawson to submit her claim for victim-specific relief under Labor Code § 558 to individual binding arbitration and to stay the action." (AA I:021.) On September 28, 2016, the Superior Court issued its tentative ruling granting Petitioners' motion, although the Court included in its tentative ruling advisory language suggesting that the arbitrator could hear the matter on a representative basis. (Ex. AA II:378.)

At the hearing on September 30, 2016, Petitioners addressed the potential of the arbitration being ordered to proceed on a representative basis, noting that both state law and the arbitration agreement preclude arbitration of claims between the parties on a class or representative basis:

The motion we brought was a very narrow motion asking the Court to compel the plaintiff's individual claim under Labor Section 558(a)(3) to individual arbitration. And the tentative ruling in the first sentence says that the Court grants that motion to compel individual arbitration, but this language at the end [of the tentative ruling], I think, creates confusion regarding that. Under both state law, the Iskanian decision, and the arbitration [agreement] itself, they both prohibit the arbitration of claims on a class or representative basis.

(Reporter's Transcript, at p.16:3-12.)

Petitioners further argued that the parties had made no agreement to arbitrate on any basis other than on an individual basis.

Here the defendants have no agreement to arbitrate other than on an individual basis. And, in fact, the portion of the *Iskanian* decision the Court relies upon in its tentative ruling as well as the Arbitration Agreement both say the exact opposite, that if it's victim specific relief, these class action waiver provisions are enforceable under the Federal Arbitration Act and the matter should be sent to individual arbitration, and so that's why I think that language in the Court's – at the end of the Court's ruling is superfluous.

(Reporter's Transcript, at p.17:9-19.)

At the conclusion of the hearing, the Superior Court took the matter under submission. (Reporter's Transcript, at p.20:19-21.) By Minute Order dated September 30, 2016, the Superior Court purported to grant Petitioners' motion to compel arbitration, but the Order did not compel arbitration on an individual basis as requested by Petitioners in their motion. (AA II:379-382.) Instead, the Superior Court denied the relief requested by Petitioners, and compelled the claim for victim-specific, unpaid wages and premium wages under Section 558 to arbitration "as a representative action." (AA II:381.)

The Superior Court served notice of the Order on October 3, 2016.

(AA II:382.)

D. <u>Appeal Of The Superior Court's Order.</u>

On October 27, 2016, after the Superior Court made its Order, Petitioners filed their notice of appeal (the "Appeal"). (AA II:383-390.) On

November 29, 2016, Petitioners also filed a petition for a writ of mandate (the "Petition"), requesting that the Court of Appeal direct the Superior Court to vacate its Order compelling arbitration on a representative basis, and enter a new and different Order granting Petitioners' motion to compel Lawson to arbitrate her PAGA claim for unpaid wages under Section 558 on an individual basis, as required by the parties' arbitration agreement. (Ex. B.) The Court of Appeal subsequently consolidated the Appeal and writ proceeding. (Opn. at p. 24.)

On December 19, 2017, the Court of Appeal filed its Opinion, dismissing the Appeal on the grounds the Superior Court's Order is non-appealable, but purporting to "grant" ZB's Petition, and issuing a peremptory writ of mandate requiring the Superior Court to vacate its Order that a portion of Lawson's claims be arbitrated, and enter a new order denying ZB's motion to arbitrate in its entirety. (Opn. at p. 24.)

The Court of Appeal reasoned that a pre-Iskanian decision, Thurman v. Bayshore Transit Management (2012) 203 Cal.App.4th 1112 ("Thurman"), held that representative PAGA plaintiffs could collect unpaid wages under Section 558 because those unpaid wages are, in effect, civil penalties. (Opn. at pp. 10-15.) The Lawson court held that Thurman continued to apply, even after Iskanian, because the Iskanian court's distinction between PAGA claims and class claims was based "in large measure on whether, prior to enactment of the PAGA, [the relief sought]

could only be recovered by way of regulatory enforcement or whether they supported a private right of action." (Opn. at p. 21.) The Court of Appeal held that the unpaid wages provisions of Section 558 posed no danger of preemption because "the authority that has come to our attention has consistently found that there is no private right of action under section 558." (Opn. at p. 20.)

Rather, the Court held, PAGA plaintiffs suing under Section 558 do not ask for individual relief, because "there is no express right of private enforcement and instead a regulatory agency has expressly been given the right to enforce the statute." (Opn. at pp. 20-21.) The Court thus held that an aggrieved employee seeking unpaid wages under Section 558 does not seek individual relief obtainable in an individual action, but only the relief an enforcing agency could obtain in an enforcement action. (Opn. at pp. 18-22.) The Court of Appeal concluded that because an employee such as Lawson effectively acts on behalf of the State, which is not a party to any arbitration agreement, the Superior Court erred in ordering Lawson to arbitrate any part of her claims. (Opn. at p. 23.)

On December 21, 2017, the Court of Appeal modified its Opinion (and the judgment), altering its award of costs. (Modified Opn. at p. 2.) No petition for rehearing was filed.

IV. THE COURT OF APPEAL'S OPINION CONTRAVENES THE UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT'S DECISION IN CONCEPCION AND THIS COURT'S HOLDING IN ISKANIAN, AND IS IRRECONCILABLE WITH THE PREVIOUSLY-PUBLISHED DECISION OF THE FIFTH APPELLATE DISTRICT IN ESPARZA.

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