Case No. S246711

In the

Supreme Court of the State of California

ZB, N.A. and ZIONS BANCORPORATION, Defendants and Petitioners,

ν.

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF SAN DIEGO COUNTY, *Respondent*,

KALETHIA LAWSON,
Plaintiff and Real Party In Interest.

After an Opinion from the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division One, published on December 19, 2017 and modified on December 21, 2017, Appellate Case Nos. D071279 and D071376 (Consolidated)

Appeal from the Superior Court of California, County of San Diego, Hon. Judge Joel M. Pressman's Minute Order, given on September 30, 2016 in Dept. C-66, San Diego Superior Court Case No. 37-2016-00005578-CU-OE-CTL

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

Another example, the Court of Appeal did not find that Lawson's action was asserting "unpaid wages claims[.]" (Petition, p. 27). Instead, the Court of Appeal referenced that the Superior Court treated Respondent as having done so, and the Court of Appeal otherwise consistently acknowledged that Respondent Lawson sought the recovery of civil penalties, and referenced the undenominated portion of the civil penalty under Labor Code section 558, for "underpaid wages," as being an indivisible part of the claim for civil penalties. (Opinion, pp. 3-4, 18-19, and 23).

2. The Court of Appeal Did Not Adopt a Sliding Scale Rule or Additional Evidentiary Burden With Respect to Motions to Compel Arbitration.

In arriving at its decision, the Court of Appeal carefully examined this Court's prior decisions in other cases (e.g., Opinion, pp. 9-11, 14-16, and 21-23). It also examined the California Labor Code (e.g., *Id.* at pp. 8, 18) to assure "that PAGA claims are enforced under the circumstances contemplated by the Legislature. (See *Babb v. Superior Court* (1971) 3 Cal.3d 841, 851.)" (*Id.*)

Petitioners take the statements of the Court of Appeal out of context to contend that the Court of Appeal adopted a sliding scale rule and announced an additional evidentiary burden that must be met to obtain an order compelling arbitration. The Court of Appeal did not make such holdings or reach such conclusions. The Court of Appeal noted the following, in response to Petitioners' arguments:

"Here, there is nothing in the record which suggests the predominate amounts recovered under section 558 will be in the form of underpaid wages payable to employees; indeed, we note that with respect to the meal break and rest break violations alleged by Lawson, while section 558 provides either a \$50 or \$100 assessment for each violation during a pay period, Lawson only alleges an underpaid wage loss of one hour's wages for each violation. Thus, depending upon how many violations occurred during a pay period and the effected employees' rate of pay, it is quite possible that, at least as to the rest break and meal break allegations, the underpaid wage portion of any recovery will fall within the 25 percent range implicitly approved by the court in *Iskanian*." (Opinion, p. 22).

"[T]here is no basis upon which to conclude that recovery under the statute will largely go to individual employees[.]" (*Id.*)

The picture that Petitioners paint has no support when one looks at the *actual* decision of the Court of Appeal.

In fact, the Petition acknowledges that the Court of Appeal did not actually reach the holdings and conclusions that Petitioners attribute to it. Purported holdings and conclusions adopting sliding-scale rules and evidentiary burdens are completely absent from Section II.D of the Petition which purports to describe the holdings and conclusions of the Court of Appeal. (Petition, pp. 17-19).

Petitioners sought to carve out the undenominated portion of the civil penalty available under Labor Code section 558 from the denominated

portion provided by that section, and treat it as a discrete and independent matter that could be separately adjudicated. However, the Court of Appeal noted that, by law, the penalties at issue can only be recovered by the Labor Commissioner or by an aggrieved employee through a PAGA action. The Court of Appeal also noted that the larger picture did not reflect that the penalties to be recovered by the PAGA action would not primarily go to the state. The Court of Appeal did not issue sliding scale rules or create evidentiary burdens, instead, it pointed out logical flaws and provided observations consistent with the law.

Petitioners' arguments in the Superior Court and on appeal begged the question. Petitioners assumed that in order for the state to be a real party in interest with respect to the undenominated underpaid wages portion of the civil penalty sought based on Labor Code section 558(a)(1)-(2), the primary concern would be whether 100% of that specific portion of the civil penalty would be split between the state and aggrieved employees. Petitioners placed a metaphorical microscope in front of the Court of Appeal and asked the Court of Appeal to peer through the viewfinder to observe that the "State would not share in any of" the underpaid wages portion of the civil penalty recovered pursuant to Labor Code section 558(a)(3). However, in response, the Court of Appeal adjusted the level of magnification and zoomed out—remarking that it was logically possible that penalties recovered under Labor Code section 558 could be split so as

to have the state receive 75% and aggrieved employees receive 25% (the "75-25 split") of the amount recovered based on Labor Code section 558.

The Court of Appeal was simply observing the logical parameters of the arguments presented by Petitioners with respect to the 75-25 split. Petitioners would have this Court believe that the Court of Appeal's decision would prevent an "employer who denied liability altogether" from "ever mov[ing] to compel arbitration, since the employer would be unable to establish that any underpaid wages recovery would predominate over any civil penalties recovery[.]" (Petition, p. 35). However, this is untrue. The Court of Appeal only made observations about the undenominated portion of the civil penalty under Labor Code section 558 vis-à-vis the denominated portion of the civil penalty because Petitioners were trying to dissect and carve out the undenominated portion on the notion that it is not pursuable through a PAGA action because the 75-25 split does not apply to it. The Court of Appeal's observations in response to this specific line of argument does not formally establish a legal or factual standard that all employers must now satisfy "in order for employers to obtain an order for arbitration[.]" (Petition, p. 35).

Petitioners contend that the Court of Appeal adopted a framework that is impractical, i.e. requiring an employer to develop the record and prove the breakdown of the amount to be paid to the state versus employees. However, the Court of Appeal did not do this—instead, the

Court of Appeal was illustrating that invoking the 75-25 split as a basis for demarcating the proper scope of what is or is not recoverable through a PAGA claim, does not make sense. After all, Petitioners acknowledge that the PAGA statute authorizes a court to determine the amount of monetary penalties to be assessed, and in doing so, to award a lesser amount, and the monetary amount at issue "cannot be known until the trial court renders a judgment in the action." (Petition, pp. 37-38).

Already, this Court has taken the position that plaintiffs will not be required to prove-up their case before being allowed to proceed in the litigation of a PAGA action. *Williams v. Superior Court (Marshalls of CA, LLC)* (2017) 3 Cal. 5th 531, 539 ("Hurdles that impede the effective prosecution of representative PAGA actions undermine the Legislative objectives.").

In Williams (Marshalls of CA, LLC), the Court concluded that "[t]hese purposes would be ill served by presuming, notwithstanding the failure explicitly to so indicate in the text, that deputized aggrieved employees must satisfy a PAGA-specific heightened proof standard at the threshold, before discovery." *Id.* at 546. Similarly, the purposes of the PAGA would be ill-served, and clearly stated legislative objectives would be undermined, if, notwithstanding the failure explicitly to so indicate in the legislative text, it is determined that deputized aggrieved employees are prevented from pursuing the underpaid wages portion of Labor Code

section 558's civil penalty on a representative basis. This is especially so, given that both the Labor Code and California courts have defined the remedy afforded by Labor Code section 558 to be a civil penalty. Cal. Lab. Code §§ 558(a) and 2699(a); *Thurman v. Bayshore Transit Mgmt., Inc.* (2012) 203 Cal.App.4th 1112, 1144-1148; *Reynolds v. Bement* (2005) 36 Cal.4th 1075. See also, § III.E, *infra*.

Consistent with the law, the Court of Appeal was, essentially, rejecting Petitioners' position that a court should determine, at the outset, that there is no way the monetary amount to be recovered for the civil penalty under Labor Code section 558 would work out to a 75-25 split if successful. Put simply, the Court of Appeal was just pointing out the flaws in the superstructure that forms the crux of Petitioners' argument in support of dissecting the PAGA claim and requiring individual arbitration of the underpaid wages portion of the civil penalty available under Labor Code section 558.

3. The Superior Court Did Not Stay the Remainder of the PAGA Action.

Petitioners repeatedly represented in their Writ Petition and Direct Appeal that "the Superior Court stayed the 'civil penalties aspect of this case […]' pending the arbitration of the unpaid wages portion of the action[,]" which is incorrect. (Petition, Exhibit 1, pp. 1-3; Writ Petition, pp. 46-47; Opening Brief, pp. 30-31). Petitioners, again, make this incorrect

representation in the Petition for Review. (Petition, p. 23). Petitioners are aware this is incorrect, not only because the Superior Court's Order speaks for itself, but because Respondent Lawson specifically pointed out the misstatement on appeal. (Respondent's Letter Brief, pp. 7-8). Although Petitioners sought a stay of the remainder of the action as a part of the Motion to Compel Arbitration, the Superior Court did not stay the remainder of the action pending arbitration of the matter ordered to arbitration. Instead, the Superior Court ordered a 90-day stay that was not conditioned upon or otherwise pegged to arbitration.

C. There is No Conflict Between the Court of Appeal's Opinion and *Concepcion* or *Iskanian*.

While the Petition raises conflict with *Concepcion* as a question presented for review (Petition, p. 6), and purports to rely on the holding in *Concepcion* (Petition, p. 7), the Petition does not actually explain how the Court of Appeal's Opinion conflicts with *Concepcion*.

Petitioners present a false dichotomy, under which *Concepcion* and the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA"), 9 U.S.C. § 1, *et seq.*, "require[] California Courts to enforce arbitration agreements" (which is not correct), otherwise the claim at issue must fit into a so-called, tightly-fitted exception to *Concepcion* (under *Iskanian*¹⁰), in order to avoid FAA preemption.

_

¹⁰ References to an *Iskanian* exception within the Petition are confusing. Some references to an *Iskanian* exception imply that Petitioners are

(Petition, p. 7).

However, Petitioners ignore that, under *Concepcion*, preemption of state law by the FAA arises when a law applies only to arbitration, derives its meaning from the fact that an agreement to arbitrate is at issue, or is applied in a fashion that disfavors arbitration. AT&T Mobility LLC, v. Concepcion (2011) 563 U.S. 333, 339 and 341; McGill v. Citibank, N.A. (2017) 2 Cal.5th 945, 962. That is not the case here. The Court of Appeal's Opinion does not single out arbitration and disfavor it. Under the FAA, an arbitration agreement is as enforceable as any other contract (but not more so than any other contract), and courts are required to place arbitration agreements on an equal footing with other contracts—the Court of Appeal's Opinion is consistent with this. McGill at 962 and 964 (citing Concepcion at 339, Prima Paint v. Floor & Conklin (1967) 388 U.S. 395, at 404, fn. 12, and Rent-A-Center, West, Inc. v. Jackson (2010) 561 U.S. 63, 68).

The Court of Appeal's Opinion treats arbitration agreements just like any other contracts between private parties that do not, at the time of contracting, act as agents that are authorized to bind the state. To conclude

referring to an exception to *Iskanian* that would operate to allow a PAGA waiver to be enforceable with respect to a claim for so-called "victim-specific" relief. Other references to an *Iskanian* exception imply that the Petitioners are referring to an exception to *Concepcion*. In this instance, Respondent Lawson is using the latter concept.

that an agreement can bind the state, which is the real party in interest with respect to a PAGA claim, merely because it is an arbitration agreement, would be contrary to Congress's intent to put arbitration agreements on an equal footing with other contracts. *McGill*, 2 Cal.5th at 962 and 964 (citing *Prima Paint* at 404, fn. 12 and *Arthur Andersen*, *LLP v. Carlisle* (2009) 556 U.S. 624, at 630-631).

Petitioners also ignore key parts of this Court's decision in *Iskanian*:

"Simply put, a PAGA claim lies outside the FAA's coverage because it is not a dispute between an employer and an employee arising out of their contractual relationship. It is a dispute between an employer and the state, which alleges directly or through its agents- either the Labor and Workforce Development Agency or aggrieved employees- that the employer has violated the Labor Code." *Iskanian v. CLS Transportation Los Angeles, LLC* (2014) 59 Cal.4th 348, 386.

In *Iskanian* the Court recognized that the state is the real party in interest in a PAGA action, the PAGA litigant acts as a proxy or agent of the state when commencing and pursuing a PAGA action, PAGA is a substantive interest of the state and has a public purpose, and a pre-dispute agreement to which the state is not a party cannot operate to prevent a PAGA claim from being viable on a representative basis in any forum. *Iskanian* at 382-391. The Court also noted:

"[T]he FAA aims to promote arbitration of claims belonging to the private parties to an arbitration agreement. It does not aim to promote arbitration of claims belonging to a government agency, and that is no less true when such a claim is brought by a statutorily designated proxy for the agency as when the claim is brought by the agency itself. The

fundamental character of the claim as a public enforcement action is the same in both instances [...] [and its] sole purpose is to vindicate the Labor and Workforce Development Agency's interest in enforcing the Labor Code[.]" *Id.* at 388.

The Court of Appeal's Opinion correctly notes that the state is not bound by an employee's prior agreement, including any waiver of the right to bring a representative action, and places the arbitration agreement at issue on an equal footing with other contracts, treating it as enforceable and subject to invalidation to the same extent as any other contract. (Exhibit A, pp. 7 and 23). The Court of Appeal noted:

"[I]n bringing her PAGA claim Lawson was acting on behalf of the state and the state has not agreed to arbitrate its claim. Hence, it is clear Lawson's claim is outside the scope of the arbitration agreement she signed[.]" (Opinion, p. 7);

This is in line with other decisions by the Court of Appeal which this Court and the United States Supreme Court have declined to review. See, e.g. *Betancourt v. Prudential Overall Supply* (2017) 9 Cal.App.5th 439, *cert. denied*.

By law, a representative PAGA claim is not subject to being dissected to create an individual claim, cannot be waived by way of a predispute agreement, and must be *viable on a representative basis in some forum. Iskanian, supra,* 59 Cal.4th at 348, 360, 380, and 383-84; *Perez v. U-Haul Co. of California* (2016) 3 Cal.App.5th 408, 417-19; *Hernandez v. Ross Stores* (2016) 7 Cal.App.5th 171; *Tanguilig v. Bloomingdale's, Inc.* (2016) 5 Cal.App.5th 665, *cert denied*; *Williams, supra,* 237 Cal.App.4th

642 at 645-47; Reyes v. Macy's, Inc. (2011) 202 Cal.App.4th 1119, 1124; Securitas Security Services USA, Inc. v. Superior Court (2015) 234 Cal.App.4th 1109, 1118-21; Poublon v. C.H. Robinson Co., (9th Cir. 2017) 846 F.3d 1251, 1263-64, 1274; Mohamed v. Uber Techs., Inc. (9th Cir. 2016) 836 F.3d 1102; Sakkab v. Luxottica Retail N. Am., Inc. (9th Cir. 2015) 803 F. 3d 425, 427-34. As such, there is no conflict between the Court of Appeal's Opinion and Concepcion, Iskanian, or their progeny.

D. The State is the Real Party In Interest With Respect to the PAGA Claim, Including and Not Limited to, the Underpaid Wages Portion of the Civil Penalty Available Under Labor Code Section 558.

Respondent Lawson did not "admit" that she and not the state is the real party in interest with respect to the underpaid wages portion of the civil penalty under Labor Code section 558 (Petition, p. 24). Respondent has maintained, and continues to maintain, that the state is the real party in interest.¹¹

Petitioners contend that the Superior Court implicitly recognized, concluded, and accepted that Respondent Lawson and not the state is the "real party in interest" for the underpaid wages portion of the civil penalty

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